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PREFACE 

For almost a score of years, voyageur and factor, Indian chief and clansmen have been shadows along the 
mossy trails that I walk in the tall timber that lead from my home to the first home of Hudson's Bay Company 
servants and engagés in the upper reaches of the magnificent Yukon River.  Here, where the Pelly and Yukon 
rivers come together there was established, we know now, a rough hewn, log village of six or seven buildings - 
the first village of Euro-Americans in the Yukon.  Men, women and children laboured, danced, married, 
welcomed babies and died here.  English, Canadian French, Tutchone, Han, Tlingit, and Kaska, a babel of 
language spoken here.  They left us virtually nothing to show us how much they loved or hated their lives at 
the forks of the rivers. 
 
At the water's edge, with the site of the old fort behind me and also probably in front of me - the river makes 
a mockery of men who choose to build permanently within her wide bounds - I have often looked up and 
down the river to see what Mr. Campbell and Mr. Stewart may have been seeing when they wrote in their 
post's journal. Today we can only see dimly what those two may have seen and we hear not at all what they 
heard.  The great rivers have made and unmade so much of the land.  Civilizations have come and gone since 
Mr. Campbell and Mr. Stewart stood at the water's edge. 
 
I know the land well and I can conjure and reconstruct, searching out the ciphers of those first recorders of 
local history.  It is a lonely land today, even more lonely than it was back then when the Hudson's Bay 
Company red ensign was fluttering on a rough, spruce pole before the trading store.  Communications and 
transportation, the bane of Campbell and Stewart, tied as they were to technology little changed since the 
pyramid builders of old Egypt, allow loneliness today to be a choice and not an inviolate rule of the 
wilderness. 
 
Campbell and Stewart, though culturally lonely, happily were surrounded by human beings with a purpose 
who needed the land even as they harvested from the land.  Those kinds of people and indeed, no people are 
here any longer. 
 
I admire Mr. Campbell and Mr. Stewart.  Who, today, would even begin to live as they did so successfully with 
only their wits and skills to keep themselves alive?  Who, today, can walk as they did 1100 miles to get needed 
supplies, burdened with heavy packs at that, and neither perish nor give up.  With our social entitlements and 
personal rights who today would ever work like Mr. Campbell and Mr. Stewart did so faithfully for the 
"company"? 
 
I respect the Indian headmen, those local and those from afar, and their clansmen who accepted foreigners in 
their midst, guided them, supported them and then in their own caballed methodology negotiated the 
foreigners out of their land. 
 
The post journal volumes provide us with the first threads of a Yukon history, the threads that continue to 
sew together the tattered, soiled and frail bits and pieces of human life that make up history of the people here 
and everywhere. 
 
 
 
Llewellyn R. Johnson 
Stepping Stone on the Pelly River 
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INTRODUCTION  

AUTHORSHIP OF THE PO ST JOURNAL 

Currently three volumes exist of the post journal for Fort Selkirk.  The volumes cover the full period that the 
post was in operation by the Hudson's Bay Company. 
 
Two of the three volumes are co-written by Robert Campbell and James G. Stewart, trader and assistant trader 
respectively at Fort Selkirk.  The two volumes cover the periods May 23, 1848 to October 19, 1849 (volume 
one) and October 20, 1849 to December 31, 1851 (volume two). 
 
The third volume is written exclusively by Stewart.  This volume is another version of the second volume of 
the co-written journal.  This exclusive Stewart version of volume two covers not only the same October 20, 
1849 to December 31, 1851 period of the co-written volume but also covers January 1, 1852 to September 9, 
1852, the final year of Fort Selkirk's operations. 
 
Consequently, we have volume one and two of the post journal in-which both Campbell and Stewart have 
made entries and another volume two in-which only Stewart has made entries.  Further, this second version of 
Stewart's continues until the end of the post's operations.  To add to the confusion, both versions of the 
second volume are entitled "volume two" and state that they are continuations of the post journal. 
 
We do not know why there are two versions of volume two but they do differ in some significant ways.  The 
Stewart exclusive volume two is far more brief and often omits important information.  So brief and 
insignificant are the daily entry at times, the reader can't help but wonder why Stewart troubled himself to 
make the effort to write the entry. 
 
The Stewart written volume leaves out the personal sentiments often expressed by both Stewart and Campbell 
in the daily entries of the co-written volume as well as the self composed limericks that both liked to add to 
the journal pages.  However, this general character of briefness and lack of importance of daily entries 
disappears entirely when Stewart renders a detailed account of the Chilcat traders' visit to Fort Selkirk during 
the summer of 1851.  His exclusive volume entries for the period faithfully follow those entries that he had 
also made in the co-written volume.  Stewart was sorely challenged by the Chilcat traders that summer of 1851 
and apparently felt compelled to repeat all of the story in both volumes.   
 
Also, for the year 1852, a year in which the Stewart exclusive written volume has no existing counterpart, 
Stewart tends to provide more details than we find in other years of his volume.  Of particular interest in this 
regard is his account of the sacking of Fort Selkirk by Chilcat traders in August 1852.  In some respects the 
details provided by Stewart's exclusive version are even more graphic than those we find in Robert Campbell's 
published accounts of the same events.  Yet, Stewart was not present at Fort Selkirk during the Chilcat 
rampage. 
 
Probably, the first impression of the reader of the two versions of volume two is that Stewart in his exclusive 
written version was only making notes which would be fleshed out by him or Campbell in the fuller entry of 
the co-written volume.  This would mean that the co-written volume was written later and was the official 
journal of the post.  However, there is no material evidence available to determine which volume was written 
first. 
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The Hudson's Bay Company required that journals be regularly kept at their posts and that a volume be 
forwarded to district headquarters on a regular basis.  The volume generally covered an "outfit year", an outfit 
year being the period between each annual provision trip to a post from district headquarters.  Accounts were 
rendered by the post of trade activities for the period and those accounts normally accompanied the journal 
volume back to headquarters. 
 
We know from the Fort Selkirk correspondence records that annual accounts and post journal volumes were 
requested by Fort Simpson, Mackenzie River district headquarters from Fort Selkirk, the journal and accounts 
being overdue.  Whether, the requests were ever complied with is not known.  It should be understood that 
Fort Selkirk suffered serious supply problems and that ink powder, steel pen points and all writing material 
(bound, hard cover journal and account books included), were chronically in short supply or at times non-
existent at the post. 
 
Looking at the year, 1852, a year in-which we have no co-written volume, we cannot convincingly conclude 
that no co-written volume was ever rendered for that year.  In fact, just the opposite would seem to be the 
case.  When Stewart covered the events of the Chilcat sacking of Fort Selkirk in August 1852, he not only 
gives us the details but he adds a gratuitous side note when the death of his dog is mentioned in the account.  
However, as we have mentioned Stewart was not at Fort Selkirk but was far down river when the Chilcats 
were at Fort Selkirk. 
 
Clearly, Stewart had to be copying his information from some Campbell rendered source.  The very brief time 
available to Stewart after the Fort Selkirk debacle and the demands placed on them as they prepared to make 
their separate ways out of the country strengthens the probability that Stewart was copying from some 
Campbell written source, if not the post journal, maybe then Campbell's private diary. 
 
The post journal or what remained of it went with Stewart to Fort Yukon.  Stewart records his arrival at Fort 
Yukon in his exclusive written volume.  If Campbell took a co-written volume with him, he never mentions it 
nor does he seem to have ever used it in his own personal writings years later. 
 
In conclusion, it is likely that a complete volume two of the co-written version of the journal at one time 
existed.  This version would have covered the year 1852.  In support of this possibility is an intriguing 
Campbell statement written years after Fort Selkirk wherein he says that Stewart, one evening at Fort Selkirk, 
wrote in the post journal "Robert Campbell's Farewell To the Pelly (Youcon)". 
 
No volume of the existing post journal has that farewell to the Pelly.  A farewell to the Pelly would have 
referred either to the replacement of the disastrous West Branch supply line with the new route through Fort 
Yukon or to Campbell's own long anticipated departure from the Yukon River basin.  The remark would have 
been appropriate only in the year 1852. 
 
Although we do not have any similar link to the possibility of a volume one of Stewart's exclusively written 
version of the journal we believe it is likely that such a volume also existed at one time.  The provenance 
section of this Introduction provides commentary on the history of the various volumes of the post journal 
after leaving Fort Selkirk which history gives rise to the possibility of a Stewart written volume one. 
 
Perhaps, to be on the safe side, two journals were kept at Fort Selkirk.  In the event one became lost or 
damaged, another daily journal was still available to be sent back to district headquarters at Fort Simpson as 
required.  Campbell records in his private correspondence that in 1850 he lost all his papers and journal.  We 
assume that he was referring to a private journal as well as private papers, but at the time of the loss he was on 
the way to obtain supplies for Fort Selkirk and give an account of his activities at that post.  Included in 
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Campbell's loss may have been Fort Selkirk business records including an account book or post journal 
volume. 
 
Stewart, rather than Campbell, appears to have been the person most responsible for making the daily entries 
in the post journal.  When neither trader was at the post, the post journal was not maintained, even though 
another literate man, John Reid, was often placed in charge of the post when both men were absent.  At all 
times when Campbell or Stewart were at the post, the journal was diligently kept up, an entry often covering 
the day and the exact time of day that one or both returned to the post. 
 
In the post journal account that follows here, we have used the co-written version of volumes one and two, 
they being far more complete.  However, where there are differences between the two versions of a daily 
entry, after that entry we have noted the difference by using the words "Stewart has" followed by Stewart's 
rendering of the entry. 
 
As we have discussed above since there is no co-written version of the journal volume for the year 1852, that 
year is covered here using the Stewart exclusive written version. 
 

PROVENANCE  

In 1929 three volumes of the Fort Selkirk Post Journal arrived at the National Archives of Canada from the 
private collection of W. Bennet Munro of Pasadena, California.  Whether they came as a gift or as a purchase 
from Munro is not readily known. 
 
How W. Bennet Munro may have acquired the post journal volumes is also not readily known.  The Fort 
Selkirk post journal was an official business document of the Hudson's Bay Company and would not normally 
be found in private hands. 
 
We do know something about W. Bennet Munro since he was a scholar of some note in the first half of the 
20th Century.  Born in Canada and educated here, he received further education at Harvard University.  Forty-
one years of his life were spent as a professor of government and history at Harvard.  Later he became 
Treasurer of the California Institute of Technology.  His scholarly interest in the field of government was 
directed to American municipal government and in the field of history to French Canada.  Both fields of 
interest are far removed from the Northwest and the fur trade or Fort Selkirk and Robert Campbell. 
 
Once the National Archives of Canada became the official home of the journal volumes, they seem to have 
been borrowed, leaving that home for extended periods of time.  Borrowing them were men interested in the 
Northwest, Dr. Charles Camsell of the then Geographical and Natural History Survey of Canada and 
Lawrence J. Burpee of the International Boundary Commission. We know that the journal volumes passed 
through the hands of intermediaries to and from these two men and the archives. 
 
Burpee borrowed the volumes for a period which extended over many years.  He had a life time interest in 
Robert Campbell.  Before the first World War, Campbell's son, Glenlyon1, then a member of Parliament from 
Manitoba, later killed in the war, gave Burpee a hand written autobiography of his father's life. 
 
 

                                                      
1 Glenlyon, Robert Campbell's son, was a gold miner in the Klondike Gold Rush, previously to being an M.P., he was an 
M.L.A. in the Manitoba Legislature. 
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Burpee, himself, left at his death a partially completed life of Robert Campbell that he had been working on.  
So interested in Campbell was Burpee that in the late 1930's he flew by small plane into the Liard River and 
Frances Lake country that was associated for many years with Campbell.  Burpee completed an edited version 
of another Hudson's Bay Company trader's private journal, that of Alexander Murray while at Fort Yukon and 
this was published in the 1950's. 
 
Since there are no existing records specifically identifying each item of the Fort Selkirk materials received by 
the National Archives from Munro, it is not certain that the three volumes we have today are the sum total of 
the Fort Selkirk material that was received from Munro.  Consequently, we do not know whether parts of a 
volume may have become lost when they were borrowed from the National Archives.  There is written 
evidence in the National Archives that some of Campbell's biographical material was lost or misplaced. 
What appears to be pencilled additions or words of clarifications are found on the pages of the exclusive 
Stewart written journal volume.  These pencil insertions are found between lines and on page margins.  
However, fortunately, the pencil additions are infrequent and appear to have no special value. 
 
What is puzzling and clearly affects certain pages and information of the co-written volumes are little 
rectangles cut out of some pages.  There is no apparent pattern to the cut out pieces, no special information 
seems to have been obliterated.  A casual reader viewing the neat little hole on a page might think that the 
missing section was being used as a bookmark or even used for rolling a cigarette- they are of that size. 
 
The hard, marbleized covers of the co-written volumes are detached from the binding.  The first, inside sheet 
of the co-written volume now acts as a cover, being of stiff paper stock.  The exclusive Stewart written 
volume has neither a hard cover nor stiff paper first sheet but begins with the first page of entries, this absence 
suggesting that the volumes had a section of daily entries that precede those which we now have. 
 
All of the pages of each volume are of identical paper stock with entries on each page written in black ink, the 
entries much faded and in some instances illegible.  On the stiff paper cover of the co-written volumes are 
some very faint, hand written words, "Kindishan" and "Jackish his son".  Also written on that cover are the 
words "in 6 nights en canoe from Lynn Canal to the Forks" and "Indians along the route" followed by an 
illegible sentence.2 
 
This writing on the cover is much too faint to identify it as being the handwriting of Campbell or Stewart.  
Indeed, the handwriting may be one of those who held the journal in their possession after it was borrowed 
from the National Archives. 
 
Normal Hudson's Bay Company management procedures were for company records in the Mackenzie River 
District, which included Fort Selkirk, to flow to York Factory from Fort Simpson, the Mackenzie District 
headquarters.  Records from each post of the district went first to Fort Simpson.  York Factory then acted as 
the final repository of all the records.   
 
The system may not have been perfect but a researcher can find some of the employment records and trade 
and supply records of the Mackenzie District posts, including those of Fort Selkirk, in the York Factory 

                                                      
 2 The names and travel information are all found in the Post Journal. 
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archives.  We simply do not know whether the Fort Selkirk post journal volumes followed the usual company 
channels. 
 
Under any circumstances, it would have been a slow, tedious channel that Fort Selkirk documents would have 
had to travel, first travelling with fur and leather returns, from relay point to relay point for over 1000 miles 
back to Fort Simpson, a trip that in all likelihood consumed many, many months.  What priority a post journal 
would have had in the burden of the trip is unknown but certainly a journal from an abandoned post such a 
Fort Selkirk would not have been of very high priority for anyone. 
 
There has been some speculation that all or part of the volumes of the post journal did not travel the normal 
company channels but rather were carried out of the country by the Chilcats after their ransacking of Fort 
Selkirk.  This possibility is not supported by any of the facts presently available to us.  As we discussed in the 
Introduction section here Stewart apparently carried his exclusive version of volume two to Fort Yukon since 
entries in the journal continue until his arrival there.  We have also discussed in the Introduction section 
Stewart's rendering in the journal of the Chilcat action even though he was not physically present at the post at 
the time of that action. 
 
We should say something about the two authors of the journal and the possibility that they sequestered the 
journal.  Robert Campbell published accounts of his time at Fort Selkirk and fragments of his private journal 
covers his time there.  However, there is no indication from his writings that he possessed any volume of the 
post journal.  There are times when the entries of his private journal do not match those in the company 
journal and he makes no attempt to reconcile his published material with that of the post journal.  We know 
that many of Campbell's records were lost through accidents during his lifetime. 
 
We also know that Campbell's personal records became separated as his heirs squabbled among themselves 
after his death.  As late as 1936, the husband of one of Robert Campbell's granddaughters was attempting to 
get a Robert Campbell diary for 1852-1855 deposited in the National Archives of Canada.  Different copies of 
Campbell's autobiographical manuscript ended up on the West Coast and National Archives of Canada. 
 
Over the years collectors of Campbell's materials have confused his personal or private documents, 
particularly his diaries or journals, with the Fort Selkirk Post Journal kept for the Hudson's Bay Company.  
This confusion exists today.  The Fort Selkirk Post Journal has never been published until now. 
 
James Green Stewart, who apparently transported at least one volume of the post journal that we have today 
back with him to Fort Yukon, remained at Fort Yukon until November 1852 when he then moved with the 
express to the Mackenzie River and ultimately Fort Simpson.  For the next two years, he remained at posts in 
the Mackenzie River District. 
 
Stewart has left no writings of his time at Fort Selkirk or any period of his life with the Hudson's Bay 
Company.  None of his records available to us today suggest any possibility that he retained any volume of the 
post journal.  Stewart went on to short lived fame following a Hudson's Bay Company sponsored search for 
the lost Franklin expedition in the mid 1850's.  Stewart's accounts of that endeavour were published by 
Canadian and American newspapers. 
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ROBERT CAMPBELL AND JAMES GREEN STEWART 

A BRIEF LOOK AT THEI R LIVES 

The authors of the Fort Selkirk post journal, Robert Campbell and James Green Stewart, were men who 
ranked high in the order of the Hudson's Bay Company men in the Northwest.  Something should be said 
about them to give the reader of the post journal volumes a broader understanding of them as they struggled 
so obediently to enlarge the trading territory of their employer in the face of continuous failures. 
 
Seventeen years separated the two men in age and in their socio-economic backgrounds a continent separated 
them.  Campbell, the older man, like most of the Hudson's Bay Company employees in North America, came 
from a humble, highland Scottish farm.  Educated for a few years in a village school, he left the farm at twenty 
two years of age and joined the Bay company. 
 
First at the Red River colony as herdsmen, he was off to the Northwest at the age of twenty six.  By the time 
he was thirty years of age, he had already tramped the taiga, the mountains, the rainforests and the deep, river 
valleys, terra incognita, between Fort Simpson on the Mackenzie River and the outflow of the Stikine River on 
the Pacific coast. 
 
By the time he had established Fort Selkirk, Campbell had been in management positions at Fort Simpson, 
Fort de Liard, Fort Halkett, Dease Lake, Frances Lake and Pelly Banks.  These management jobs required 
extremely heavy responsibility, though the posts, except for Fort Simpson, were mere way stops of minor 
economic value to the company.  The company valued him as a capable leader of men, self disciplined, well 
organized and self reliant. 
 
Campbell's approbation among Indian people was estimable.  Two Liard Indian families remained with 
Campbell for over twenty years, faithfully following him wherever the company chose to send him.  An Indian 
youth, who Campbell named Peter Pelly, was considered an adopted son of his. 
 
Of his immediate superiors at Fort Simpson, there were four in all from 1840 to 1856, two damned him 
unmercifully to George Simpson, the governor of the North American operations of the Hudson's Bay 
Company, the two others lauded him as much as the two others had damned him.  Campbell, ever strong 
willed, scornful of those who outraged his acute sensibilities of right and wrong, equally and openly damned 
those who damned him.  Yet, he was not a violent man and even his detractors respected his integrity and 
selflessness. 
 
Stewart joined Campbell at Frances Lake post in 1847, a novice of only three years with the Hudson's Bay 
Company and only two years in the Northwest.  The spring following his arrival at Frances Lake, at twenty 
two years of age, Stewart travelled with Campbell down the Pelly River to establish Fort Selkirk. 
 
Unlike Campbell, the Scottish highlander born and bred, Stewart came from an affluent, first generation 
Scottish family living in Quebec City.  Stewart's father was a doctor who sat on bank boards and acted as 
advisor to governments.  He was a member of the Executive Council of Lower Canada. 
 
Stewart attended good schools; his gaining employment with the Hudson's Bay Company came through his 
father who had contacts with the company and George Simpson.  At the time the company was embarking on 
a new policy of bringing into the company a select few, young men who were Canadian born and were well 
connected.  Stewart was one of those chosen few young men. 
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Thus, we have the singular match-up of the long term, exacting, company veteran, imbued with old fur trader 
traditions, and the youth afresh from city and school, upper Canada born, fast tracked by the company for a 
management position.  It resulted in an effectively, good match-up.  The relationship of Campbell and Stewart 
at Fort Selkirk as seen from pages of the Post Journal speaks well of the mutual trust, indeed, mutual 
affection, each held for the other. 
 
Both men were physically strong, courageous and skilful, with an abundance of religious faith.  Together they 
kept Fort Selkirk a well managed operation when others were failing.  For proof of this statement, one need 
only look at Fort Halkett, Frances Lake and Pelly Bank posts to see the masters of those company posts, 
facing conditions similar to Fort Selkirk, having lost their charges, regularly facing deaths by starvation, 
cannibalism, post abandonments, supplies lost or abandoned and disastrous fires. 
 
Those disasters take on even more malevolent substance when it is understood that all those posts were the 
essential, logistical support links of the far stretched chain of posts between Fort Simpson and Fort Selkirk, 
1100 trail miles long.  Interestingly, the strong bond between Campbell and Stewart, not unlike a vicarious 
father-son relationship, while at Fort Selkirk did not continue to any degree once they left Fort Selkirk. 
 
Campbell became a Chief Trader after leaving Fort Selkirk and the company placed him in charge of a number 
of large, important districts.  He was at the rank of Chief Factor when his career with the Hudson's Bay 
Company ended in disillusionment by the changes in management following the death of George Simpson.  
Ever the feisty fighter for his principles and what he saw as the right side, he was the leader of a rump 
opposition group of traders at that time of his retirement, a retirement hastened along by his expected 
termination of employment by the new company managers.  When he left the employ of the Hudson's Bay 
Company, he had been their indefatigable servant for forty years. 
 
Stewart left the company about the same as did Campbell.  He had hoped to continue with the company but 
his superiors had decided otherwise when they left him out of the special share arrangement that the company 
had for profits with its officers.  Consequently, twenty years after Fort Selkirk, Stewart, like Campbell, was 
involuntarily no longer an employee of the Hudson's Bay Company.  The difference between the two, of 
course was that Stewart was still a young man in his forties while Campbell was over sixty years of age. 
 
Stewart, after Fort Selkirk, became a Chief Trader and later a Chief Factor managing various districts.  
Perhaps, the most recognized attribute of his life was his being selected as second in command of a special 
Arctic expedition in 1855 that the British government had requested of the Hudson's Bay Company to outfit 
and lead in order to verify reports concerning the lost Franklin expedition.  For his service, the British 
government awarded Stewart 250 Pounds. 
 
Neither Campbell nor Stewart remained in the Mackenzie District for very long following their Fort Selkirk 
labours.  Never again did they labour together.  Each man married and had large families after leaving the 
Mackenzie District.  Both men lived out their lives far from their places of birth and far from the Northwest, 
Stewart near Edmonton, Alberta (died 1881) and Campbell near Winnipeg, Manitoba (died 1894). 
 

EDITOR'S NOTES ON CH ANGES TO ORIGINAL MA NUSCRIPT  

In our editorial work we have tried to retain the essence of the journal accounts so as to not lose the flavour 
of the author's vocabularies and syntax.  For the most part the authors ignore prescribed rules of punctuation. 
 Consequently, we have had to use our discretion and insert periods and commas where the text indicates 
these should have been used. 
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The beginning letter of many words in a sentence are capitalized without following any particular rule and we 
have followed this useage of capitals by the authors.  The author's spelling of words have been followed.   
 
When we have not been sure of a word or the author's spelling of a word due to the faintness of the original 
manuscript we have placed in brackets with a question mark what the word appears to be.  Brackets have also 
been used around the name of the author when that author begins a series of journal entries.  All editorial 
comments are within brackets in order to set them apart from the original manuscript writings. 
 
In those instances where it is believed important that a reference is required from the exclusive Stewart 
authored journal there is added a small (S) in the daily entry and the information from the Stewart journal is 
provided under the daily entry.  For Stewart  added information we have used the style - Stewart has:  
followed by information which is underlined. 
 
The journal source being used for the years 1848-1851 is that of the journal co-written by Campbell and 
Stewart.  The journal source for the year 1852 is that of the exclusive Stewart written journal. 
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Map 1: Diffusion of Hudsonõs Bay Company and the Russian American Company Trade in Mid-
19th Century Northwestern North America.   
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Figure 1:  Mouth of the Pelly River (Schwatka 1883) 
Caption: Fort Selkirk was first established at a site behind the spruce trees appearing to the right, mid background of the figure sitting 
on a log.  Fort Selkirk's location was on the eastern-most channel of the Pelly River whereas this picture is of the western-most 
channel.  The figure on a log is on a driftwood-laden bar midstream of the western-most channel.  The spruce trees obscuring the 
eastern-most channel are growing on the major island which divides the mouth of the Pelly River.  Since the 1850's the mouth of the 
Pelly River has undergone substantial changes.  Both channels have altered courses with the Fort Selkirk channel after 140 years 
becoming nearly silted shut.  Campbell's sketch map of 1844 identifies the palisades and tableland in the right foreground.  The post 
journal names the leading, triangular edge of the palisades "Cape Diamond". 
Picture Credit:  Report of Military Reconnaissance In Alaska - 1883, Lt. Frederick Schwatka, Unites States Army, U.S. Govt. Printing 
Office 1884. 
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Map 2:  Confluence of the Pelly and Lewes Rivers. An Indian camp is shown near the site where 
Robert Campbell relocated Fort Selkirk in 1852.  
An enlargement from the map sketched by Robert Campbell in 1844 (HBCA Map Collection G1/71, 
N3679). Hudsonõs Bay Company Archives, Provincial Archives of Manitoba.  
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Map 3: Site of Fort Selkirk on the Pelly River.  
 
This map names the sites of the two Fort Selkirks and some of the local features mentioned in the Post 
Journal (the names of some features used by Campbell or Stewart are unknown today). The data for this 
map are compiled from air photography from the National Air Photo Library, a government road survey 
of 1901, the field notes and drawing of Dr. Hugh Bostock, Geological Survey of Canada, 1933-1938 (as 
reviewed by Dr. Bostock in 1988), and various descriptions, general river surveys and photographic images 
made in the course of early travels by George Dawson (Geological Survey of Canada), Lt. Frederick 
Schwatka (U.S. Army) and Canadian government surveyors in the 1880s and 1890s, and Koh-Klux, a 
Chilkat Chief, through Professor George Davis, U.S. Coast Survey, 1867. The HBC Fort Selkirk Post 
Journals and the HBC correspondence with that Post provided the primary source for this map 
econstruction. With the exception of Robert Campbellõsõ map of 1844, no map is known to have been 
made of the confluence of these rivers prior to the 20th Century. This map has been prepared by Tim Sellars, 

geographer and Glen Lamerton, C.L.S., with research provided by Llewellyn R. Johnson, April 18, 1994.



1848 

 
 1 

 

 

 
 
 

JOURNAL  OF  OCCURRENCES AT  
THE FORKS OF  THE LEWES AND 

PELLY  R IVERS OUTFIT  1848 
 
 
 

VOLUME 1 

 
 
 

Vol. 1 covers periods 23 May 1848 to October 18, 1849 
Journal Entries made by Robert Campbell and James G. Stewart 

 
 

________________________ 
 

[Campbell persisted in not using the name Fort Selkirk in official accounts while at the post.  He chose, 
rather, to use the name "Forks of the Lewes and Pelly" or merely "the Forks".  The name of Fort Selkirk 
was given the post by Governor George Simpson in a letter to Chief Trader, Murdock McPhearson, on 15 
June 1844, when McPearson was manager of the Mackenzie District.  An exasperated James Anderson, 
Campbell's immediate superior, in June 1852, ordered Campbell to use the official name in all company 
correspondence.  The name, Fort Selkirk, was also designated for the earlier established HBC post at Pelly 
Banks. For a short period both posts officially carried the Fort Selkirk name.  Campbell, however, never 
used the Fort Selkirk name for Pelly Banks.] 
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1848 

 [Stewart's handwriting.] 

Tuesday 23rd May  
This morning Messrs. Campbell & Stewart left Pelly Banks with two boats loaded with Outfit and 
provisions for the purpose of establishing a Fort at the Forks of the Lewes* & Pelly. Nothing extraordinary 
was seen or happened today; after having run Hoole's rapid and some other small ones, we arrived at 
Lapie's Portage. Took the cargo up the hill and camped there. 
* Lewes River, also Lewis River, today Yukon River. It is necessary to reconcile the names Campbell and Stewart are using for the 
Lewes and Pelly rivers with the names used for these rivers today.  It was thought by Campbell and Stewart that the Pelly river's course 
swung sharply westward at that river's junction with the Lewes river.  In fact the Pelly river ends at this junction with the Lewes river.  
Until early this century, the Lewes river kept its name and the Yukon river was deemed to begin where the Lewes and Pelly river came 
together.  By later using both the Pelly and Yukon names interchangeabley for the river below Fort Selkirk, at least as far as Ft. Yukon, 
Campbell and other HBC writers created confusions for readers of HBC accounts for this period. 

Wednesday 24th May 
We passed the canoes and the boats with the assistance of the Indians. Run both the boats and camped below 
the rapids. Weather cloudy but no rain. 
 
Thursday 25th May 
Early this morning Kitsah with the rest of the Indians went off in a canoe to their camp at Sheep River. 
Savoyard, Brough and Geordie went up the river to let off the raft which we had left above the rapids 
unattended that we should get below to stop it in passing. Rain most of the day. 
 
Friday 26th May 
After trading with the Indians what little meat they had, we started accompanied by a number of them. Three 
Bears were seen today and one was killed by the Gauché. Camped early at a point of woods named Egg 
encampment. We fell in with the Chief and a small party of Knife Indians1 and got about 200 lbs. meat from 
them. 
 
Saturday 27th May 
Left early this morning. The Indians going before to hunt. Passed Indians and another small rapid and camped 
at or opposite to I should say the "Aspah" River.*  We nearly lost our raft by its running fast up a pile of drift 
wood but we succeeded in getting it off and it is now moored along side of us. Lapie killed a bear and two lynx 
and Baptiste a sheep all passing. Weather cloudy with strong N.W. wind. But no rain. 
*Aspah River also called Sheep River by Campbell is the stream located just above the Tummel River. 

Sunday 28th May 
Left rather later than usual and about one o'clock fell in with a party of the Wood Indians1 "Tichinitah Tinna".* 
Traded a little meat and saw them dance. They told us extraordinary stories about Indians waiting for us at the 
Forks of McMillan's river who threatened to swallow us up body and bones unless they get goods for nothing. 
One of the Wood Indians comes along with us to interpret. Whatever be done remains to be seen. 
*also Tuchni Tatinnah, see 17 Aug. '48 

Monday 29th May 
This morning our interpreter left us after frightening our Indians with stories of bad Indians as thick as 
mosquitoes. We gave the men a gun each out of the Outfit, this humble Co. not allowing us such superfluities3. 
Left our camp early and were delayed a good deal along the road in trying to get Kitsah4 and a young man to 
come to the Forks with us. The rest equipt. with ammo left us to make the summer hunt5. Camped at forks 
McMillan's river. 
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Tuesday 30th May 
Left early and fell in with several bands of Indians principally "Aunais"6 who appeared to be very friendly 
indeed wh: shows that no confidence can be put in Indian stories. Our prospects appear to brighten. They 
received a small piece of tobacco each (say 200) and appeared to be glad to see us and to be anxious to trade. 
Camped late at a point which in future will be called [Entry ends here with no name given.] 

 
Wednesday 31st May 
Left late in the morning. Run the "Grosse Roche"* and arrived at the Forks of the "Lewis and Pelly" at about 5 
o'clock. We did not, however as yet, fix upon a place for the Fort and by what we have seen it will be a difficult 
question to solve7. Saw no Indians today. 
* Gross Roche is called Gull Rock today and is a highly visible rock islet near the centre of the river about 26 miles from Ft. Selkirk. 

Thursday 1st June  
Spent the day looking for a place to build but we were unfortunate. Every place has something objectionable. 
We saw two Indians who came down the Pelly. They report favourably of the country and the "Ellidrae"8 
intend paying us a visit. The persons they have been accustomed to trade with not having supplied them as 
usual. Russians or HBC, we are not able to make out. Paid Kitsah for his voyage and he goes off tomorrow. He 
will be a great loss to us in anon.* 
* "anon" is an archaic form meaning "in a short time." 

Friday 2nd June 
Weather cloudy, sultry and appearance of rain. Made a stage* and put all the goods upon it, sowed our potatoes 
and some other seeds and arranged a place for sowing the barley. Fixed upon a place for the Fort and we 
marked some trees for foundation logs. 
* stage was a cache platform set high enough above ground level to be secure from dogs or wild animals. 

Saturday 3rd June 
Weather cloudy with passing showers. Men employed sowing barley, squaring logs for the Big House, of which 
they squared 4 for the upper frame. 2 foundation logs. Water rising a good deal in the Pelly. 
 
Sunday 4th June 
Weather continues cloudy but sultry with appearance of rain. About 7 o'clock 10 Aunas arrived, say that having 
seen the smoke of a large fire, thought that the Russians9 had come. They brought nothing. A short time after 
13 more arrived with a little meat and a few furs. These arrivals will help [keep] us from sleep tonight, however 
they appear very peaceable. Men saw a good many moose tracks across the river, so much the better. 
 
Monday 5th June 
Weather clear and sultry. Men squaring wood. The Indians after trading a few skins went off apparently well  
satisfied and promising to return in the course of the summer with meat and leather. Weather as yesterday. 
Men in the woods, set a net. This evening saw 4 rafts go up* on the other side. Suppose they were Indians we 
have already seen. 
* go up here probably means to go down the river since it would be impossible for an unaided raft to go up either river. 

Wednesday 7th June 
Weather still continues to be sultry and the flies* are very troublesome. Four men and 2 boys arrived from 
above (Wood Indians). Brought a few pounds of meat and a few skins. 3 went off and 3 remained, one with 
sore leg, put a plaster on it and it is to be hoped it will do it good. Two men arrived from cutting roof sticks. 
The rest finished the frame work of the Big house and partly cleared a place to build it on. 
* mosquitoes, not small black files which do not appear in the area until August. 
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Thursday 8th June 
Weather sultry. Men finished the place for the Fort. Carried the wood for the house to the spot and laid one 
side of the foundation. Made two ladders, a level and a square, and sawed a good number of roofing sticks. 
One Indian went back to his camp and another came in his place to take care of the sick man. 
 
Friday 9th June 

Weather cloudy with some showers of rain towards evening. Finished laying the foundations, 

handled the picks, marked the posts, and made a bunch and nearly finished sawing the roofing sticks. 

Sharpened the cross cut saw. Indians still here. 
 
Saturday 10th June 
Sultry with a shower of rain in the morning. Marcette, Savoyard & Thom mortising posts & foundation. Reid, 
Flett & Donald at various occupations. Brough & Charleston finished the roofing sticks & spent the rest of the 
day sharpening the saw. 
 
Sunday 11th June 
Raining hard in the morning. Nothing of consequence occurred. 
 
Monday 12th June 
Weather clear and warm. Men finished the upper frame ready to put up tomorrow. Sawed two into flooring 
and cut 10. 
 
Tuesday 13th June 
Weather warm and blowing a little from the S.E. Two men sawing flooring. The rest put up frame of the 
house. A young Indian10 went off hunting today. Commenced logging the house. 
 
Wednesday 14th  June 
Weather as yesterday. The young man arrived in the morning having killed a buck moose. 3 men went off and 
brought part of the meat. The rest as yesterday. 
 
Thursday 15th June 
Weather sultry & cloudy with appearance of rain in the evening. Two men sawing, the rest nearly finished 
logging the house. Trade the meat we got home last night. 
 
Friday 16th June 
Two men sawing. The rest putting up the interior and preparing for roofing. Weather warm. 
 
Saturday 17th June 
Weather cloudy but no rain. Two men sawing roofing for the Store. One looking for mud which he found. The 
rest covered the house with the exception of the places for the chimnies. 
 
Sunday 18th June 
Weather sultry with thunder in the morning but no rain. Nothing of import occurred. 
 
Monday 19th June 
Weather sultry with a little Thunder. The Indians went off this morning. Two men making Bassins,* the rest 
brought 4 loads of stone & one of mud. 
* Bassins was probably a term used to describe the basins used for mixing and holding the mud which was used as morter. 
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Tuesday 20th June 
Weather fair & cool. Two men went for moss & mud (1 of each). One began a chimney; the rest preparing 
wood for the kitchen. 
 
Wednesday 21st June 
Weather as yesterday. Two men employed about the chimney & mudding the house. The rest put up the frame 
of the kitchen. Nothing new or important occurred no arrivals. 
 
Thursday 22nd June 
Weather cloudy, blowing from the North. Men finished one chimney and began another. Finished mudding the 
inside of the house, filled the chinks in Roof on one side with moss & logged the kitchen up to the frame. No 
arrivals. 
 
Friday 23rd June 
Weather cloudy with showers and thunder at intervals. Reid and Flett finished a chimney; Charleston & 
Brough sawing roofing, finished the logging & roofing of the kitchen, hung one door, and made another. 
 
Saturday 24th June 
Showery & cloudy most of the day. Men at the house. Baptise arrived in the morning from the hunters camp at 
the Forks of McMillan's river. Says there are no moose and they are badly off for provisions. He went across 
the Lewes to see and kill a moose for us. Marcette also went off but was unsuccessful. 
 
Sunday 25th June 
Baptiste arrived but unsuccessful. About the same time 11 Auna's arrived with a little fresh meat and some 
parch'm* skins. Traded what they had. Weather sultry with showers at intervals. 
* parchment, or dried skins. 

 Monday 26th June 
Still continues cloudy with showers at intervals. Baptiste & the Aunas went off. Men employed earthing the 
roof. Reid & Flett finished the hall chimney. 
 
Tuesday 27th June 
Weather clear and blowing from the S.E. Six men went off for bark & brought home 30 [300?]. Reid & Flett at 
the kitchen chimney. Mr. Campbell and I made our partition. Three of the Auna's that went off arrived with a 
Parchment skin wh: we told them to bring. 
 
Wednesday 28th June 
Men off for bark, brought 400. Reid & Flett at the kitchen chimney finished it. Rain most of the day. Indians 
still here. 
 
Thursday 29th June 
Weather fair. Men employed earthing & mossing the house. About 4 o'clock, 4 Aunas arrived with a few skins, 
they are from below. Report that when the salmon come up a great many of them are coming up. They also 
report there are white people11 building on this river about 10 days march (Indian) from here. The Indians here 
were hunting, raised a moose but did not kill. 
 
Friday 30th June 
Men covered the house, went for mud. Laying the flooring of Mr. Campbell's room and began finishing the 
chimney tops. Traded what furs the Indians had and they went off along with these that were here. Weather 
warms. 
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Saturday 1st July  
Reid & Flett mudding kitchen and outside of the house. The rest went for bark and brought home 480 [pieces]. 
Marcette on the sick list. Weather very warm. 
 
Sunday 2nd July 
Weather very warm. Nothing seen. 
 
Monday 3rd July 
Reid & Flett mudding outside the house the rest went off for bark & logs (200 & 3). They were employed at 
various jobs during the remainder of the day. 
 
Tuesday 4th July 
Weather cloudy with showers at intervals.  Marcette began foundation logs for the store. The rest of the men at 
various jobs about the house. 
 
Wednesday 5th July 
Weather as yesterday. Reid, Marcette, Savoyard & Donald squaring wood for the store; the rest about the 
house. Finished the flooring. Put in the Windows etc. of Mr. C. room. Two "Tuhintatinna" arrived yesterday 
evening with a little meat; report that 4 of the F.L. hunters* will be here in two nights. 
* Fort Liard Indian hunters who followed Campbell from the Liard River Country near Ft. Simpson. They had been previously 
employed by HBC as hunters as they are now employed by Campbell at Ft. Selkirk. See notes 3 and 4. 

Thursday 6th July 
Men (5) squaring frame work for store. 2 sawing & 1 washing the house inside and out with mud. No arrivals. 
Weather fair. The Indians of yesterday went off this afternoon. 
 
Friday 7th July 
Early this morning Kitsa, La Pie, Le Gauché & Geordie arrived with their families.12  They brought in a little 
fresh meat. Men as usual. Cloudy with showers at intervals. 
 
Saturday 8th July 
Weather as yesterday. Men finished the frame for the store with the exception of two beams. Three Auna's 
arrived from below with a few furs & little leather. By their reports we are led to believe that Mr Murray's Fort 
is on this river. Their description answers to nearly everything about them, price of goods & etc. Late in the 
evening 15 Indians from the coast arrived, Tchilcats12A on a trading expedition with the Auna's. They are well 
supplied with goods, blankets, ammo, & etc. They are very troublesome and it is to be hoped they will soon be 
off. They have been 12 days on the road from Lynn's Canal. They talk of Mr. Dodd the master of the 
Steamboat13 & they have seen the rapids.* They are of a different caste from any Indians we have yet seen. 
Short with very large features, hair cropped short, and in the whole are a bad looking set. 
* probably Five Finger Rapids on the Yukon River, about 58 miles above Ft. Selkirk. 

Sunday 9th July 
This has been the longest day that we have spent since we came here. The Indians very troublesome, and we 
are obliged to watch every night. They are thieving everything they see. It is hoped that they will soon be off. 
 
Monday 10th July 
Indians still here. Men went off for the meat of moose that La Pie killed yesterday. Brought it home. 2 were 
squaring the rest of the day. Indians very troublesome. 
 
Tuesday 11th  July 
Weather very sultry. Indians still troublesome. Men squaring for the men's houses, sawing, flooring & putting 
up doors. 
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Wednesday 12th July 
Weather as yesterday. Three Auna's came in the morning with a little meat and in the forenoon they went off 
with the other set of devils to their camp with the exception of two who went off with a letter addressed to Mr. 
Dodd the master of the "Beaver". It is to be hoped that we shall be able to open a communication with the 
coast. Men employed bringing home the wood that is squared for the house & store. In the evening 4 men & 3 
boys (Wood Indians) arrived. They brought a little meat. 
 
Thursday 13th July 
Men brought home the remainder of the wood for men's house & store. Weather oppressingly hot. Traded the 
meat that came yesterday. The hunters still here. 
 
Friday 14th July 
Weather very warm. The hunters went off this morning and Gauché returned after killing a young buck. In the 
afternoon, 4 Auna's arrived with meat. Those of yesterday still here. Two men sawing, two flooring the hall, 
two the kitchen & two laying the foundation of the Store. 
 
Saturday 15th July 
Men floored the hall & kitchen. Crossed* the Indians from below & they went off for the coast. They have 
traded a good deal but not much beaver. 4 Auna's arrived and the rest are still here. Traded what they had. 
*transported across the Lewes River [Yukon River] 

Sunday 16th July 
In the morning 7 Wood Indians arrived. They brought some meat & leather. Traded with them & they are still 
here. They have some beaver in their camp but they find the tariff too high for them. 
 
Monday 17th July 
Men employed morticing & grooving posts etc. for store. Indians still here. 2 W. Indians arrived with some 
meat which was traded. 
 
Tuesday 18th July 
Men finished the wood for the store and laid the foundation of the men's houses. Some of the Indians went off 
& 9 arrived with a few skins and leather. They report that the Salmon* have arrived which we shall attack 
tomorrow if spared. Weather warm with appearance of rain. 
* King or Chinook salmon. 

Wednesday 19th July 
Two men went off for the meat of a buck moose killed yesterday by Geordie. The rest of the men at the store 
& men's houses. All the strange Indians went off & 2 arrived with a little leather. They report that the Salmon 
have come up. 
 
Thursday 20th July 
Put up the frame of the Store. Set a salmon net but got nothing. Men came back with the meat. Indians and 
one of our men complaining a good deal of the bowel complaint. 
 
Friday 21st July 
Men employed logging the store and grooving the posts of the men's houses. Two still on the sick list. No 
strangers today. 
 
Saturday 22nd July 
Donald ill today and Tom getting better. La Pie's wife very near death's door. I am sure this sickness will go 
around us all. The rest of the men logging & morticing. 
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Sunday 23rd July 
Nothing new today. Donald better. Tom worse & LaPie's wife very ill indeed. 
 
Monday 24th July 
Weather clear & fine. Men employed logging the store & morticing posts of the mens houses. Gauché & José 
off hunting. 
 
Tuesday 25th July 
Men raised the frame of men's houses, logging the store etc. José's arrived. He has killed two moose for which 
all hands will start tomorrow. Le Gauché, Geordie & 3 boys. Nothing new occurred at the Fort. LaPie's wife 
getting better. 
 
Thursday 27th July 
Men & Indians arrived with the meat and in the afternoon men employed logging the store. LaPie's wife the 
same. 
 
Friday 28th July 
Men logging the store. A council was held this evening in the hall of Audience to consider & appoint hunters 
for this place. After a good deal of hot debating the meeting was adjourned until tomorrow. The smoke was 
dreadful & very annoying to our worthy adventurers. 
 
Saturday 29th July 
We had a desparate debate today with the hunters which ended in Kitzah, LeGauché and Geordie remaining 
here & José and LaPie going up to Mr. Pambrun.* Men logging the store. Kitsah and LeGauché go off on a 
tour de chasse tomorrow. 
* Pambrun was the HBC manager of the posts at Francis Lake and Pelly Banks. Campbell considered Pambrun not competent to 
manage those two posts. 

Sunday 30th July 
Weather very smoky and warm. Indians went off as was proposed. Geordie still here goes off tomorrow. 
 
Monday 31st July 
Men finished logging the store. Weather very cloudy & rain in the evening. Geordie went off with Peter on a 
"Tour de Chasse". 
 
Tuesday 1st August  
Weather cloudy & clear at intervals. Men employed flooring the upper part of the store etc. etc. Nothing of 
import occurred. 
 
Wednesday 2nd August  
Men at the store. Early in the morning LaPie arrived with his wife at the brink of the grave, poor thing. She 
looks very wretched. She still lives.  Shortly after Le Gauché, Marcellais, & Johny with 9 Wood Indians, 5 men 
& 4 boys arrived; the former, with parts of the meat of 2 young animals, the latter with each some dried meat 
& little grease. Shortly after these Geordie & Peter arrived having killed two animals, one they brought with 
them and one they left en cache for which some of our people will start tomorrow. 
 
Thursday 3rd August 
"It has pleased Providence to convert our house (so recently put up) into a house of mourning and of death. 
This afternoon Lapie's wife departed this world and its cares after an illness of some days. Her last moments 
were tranquil and she closed her eyes upon the vanities, troubles & afflictions of this life as one falling into a 
deep sleep. The scene was truly affecting and one that should remind us all of the uncertainty of our existence 
on this earth and make us turn our thoughts heavenward so that, when our time shall come, "Death & its 
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horrors will appear as nought in comparison with the joy & bliss that awaits those (beyond the dark valley) who 
believe in the Redeemer and walk in his Statutes."* We had great difficulty in preventing LaPie from injuring 
himself; but by the assistance of the Wood Indians and our people, we did not allow him to get any 
opportunity of doing himself injury. He is now quiet and it is to be hoped he will continue so for the sake of 
his children & his own. It was a heart rendering spectacle and an example of the best feelings of the heart 
brought to light in a state of nature. Two Wood Indians arrived to day (one man & a boy). They brought some 
meat. 
* Stewart may be quoting the words of Campbell who is using the common words of a funeral rite. 

Friday 4th August 
Men at the store. We buried Lapie's wife in the morning above the Fort. Three more Wood Indians arrived but 
they had nothing but a little leather & that badly dressed. 
[Campbell handwriting] 
 
Saturday 5th August 
All the Indians went off in the morning as did Mr. Stewart with two men & nets to try to catch salmon some 
distance up the Pelly. Loud peals of thunder about noon with heavy rain and a shower of hail. The men roofed 
the store. 
 
Sunday 6th August 
A party of the lower Ionais or Auna's arrived this morning in twenty two canoes. They brought a large quantity 
of leather, some furs and salmon. All which they willingly traded at our tariff. Beautiful weather. 
 
Monday 7th August 
The Indians took their departure early this morning by whom I forwarded a note to Mr. Murray down below 
here. Mr. Stewart arrived without meeting any better luck above. Two other Strange Indians* arrived from 
below. The men covering the store with moss. 
* see note 10 

[Stewart resumes writing the entries] 

Tuesday 8th August 
I arrived last night without any luck. Men employed procuring moss, covering the store with it. 
 
Wednesday 9th August 
Men covered the store with bark. Weather threatening & raining in the evening. Set three Salmon nets. They 
are logging the men's houses. 
 
Thursday 10th August 
Weather fair. Men logging, Two making a cellar in the Store one flooring & the Sawyers at work again. Caught 
one salmon today & 7 other fish (suckers & Inconnu). 
 
Friday 11th August 
Men at their various duties. Two Wood Indians arrived with some Salmon & a little meat. Weather rainy & 
clear at intervals. 
 
Saturday 12th August 
Men at various jobs about the place. Put the things in the store today. No arrivals. 
 
Sunday 13th August 
Fine weather, nothing new. 
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Monday 14th August 
Men resumed their work at their own house today. Two flooring the store, two sawing. Weather cloudy but no 
rain. 
 
Tuesday 15th August 
Men finished putting the roofing sticks on their houses. Two putting up partitions in the store. The Sawyers as 
usual. Very much like rain. Saw smoke on the other side of the river, suppose it to be some of the Aunas. 
 
Wednesday 16th August 
Raining hard all day. Men employed going for mud & stones and two in the store. An old man arrived with an 
ounce of meat & a few berries (an Aunais). 
 
Thursday 17th August 
Four men making chimnies and getting mudding; two in the store & two sawing. Our Wood Indian hunter 
arrived with a little meat and furs; reports that all the "Tuchni Tatinnah" are gone to trade with the "Ellidrae." 
Geordie & Johnnie arrived with a little meat. He reports animals down but we have no time to send for them 
so they must dry them. Kitsah has been unwell and is so still (a sore breast, a bad complaint in this county).* 
*see Note 23 

Friday 18th August 
Two men making chimnies & mudding the houses. Two in the store & two sawing. We traded what the 
Indians had & Johnnie, with the Wood Indian, went to Kitsah's camp. Geordie & Peter to hunt about here. 
 
Saturday 19th August 
Men finished chimnies & lower part of their houses & then floored the garret* of the store. 
*attic 

Sunday 20th August 
Rain most of the day. Geordie & Peter arrived today but were unsuccessful. 
 
Monday 21st August 
Weather as yesterday. Men employed in the store & went for a load of moss. 
 
Tuesday 22nd August 
Storming all day. Men at their house & two in the store. The sawyers resumed their work. No arrivals from any 
direction. 
 
Wednesday 23rd August 
Men barked their houses & went for mud. Reid & Donald making a counter etc. in the shop. In the afternoon 
4 Wood Indians (two of them were strangers) arrived. They brought nothing. Geordie and Peter were also 
unsuccessful. 
 
Thursday 24th August 
Men mudding their houses and laying the sleepers.* Reid & Donald as yesterday. Indians went off. No arrivals 
from any quarter. 
* sleepers were beams used to support the floor. 

Friday 25th  August  
Weather fair but cool. We had a slight frost last night which touched the potatoe tops a little. Men floored their 
houses, made the hearths, & put up the doors. Reid & Donald began making a stage, the sawyers as usual. 
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Saturday 26th August 
Weather fair. We had a hard frost during the night; everything was white this morning. Reid & Donald as 
yesterday. The rest as yesterday. Geordie & Peter went off to hunt yesterday. 
 
Sunday 27th August 
Raining most of the day. A Wood Indian arrived but he has apparently very little. The men got into their 
houses last night at which they all seem pleased poor fellows. 
 
Monday 28th August 
Raining a little almost the whole day. Two men hauling mud. Two putting bark on the inside of the shop & the 
Sawyers resumed their own work. The Indian of yesterday still here. No word of Geordie & Peter yet. 
 
Tuesday 29th August 
Fair Weather. Geordie & Peter arrived but were again unsuccessful on account of the rain. Men as yesterday. 
No strangers. 
 
Wednesday 30th August 
Men employed mudding the Store & cleaning the boat which was hauled up in the evening. Reid & Thomas 
putting the mud out the store to prepare for the flooring. In the evening Three Wood Indians arrived with 
some meat, one of whom is a stranger. Geordie worse today. 
 
Thursday 31st August 
Finished mudding the store. Marcette & Donald put out the earth from the Meat Store. Savoyard and Flett 
cleaning & burning round the Fort. Reid & Thomas laid the flooring of the store. Traded what the Indians of 
yesterday brought as well as that of Three more who arrived this morning. 
 
Friday 1st September  
Four men burning chips and rubbish about the Fort. Levelling the ground a little before the door. Reid & 
Thomas laid the flooring in the Meat Store. Marcette helping me to put on the ceiling of my room. Indians all 
went off, rain in the evening. 
 
Saturday 2nd September 
Weather fair. The Sawyers finished all the logs they have here. The rest of the men at various jobs about the 
Fort. Geordie no better. 
 
Sunday 3rd September 
Fine weather. Nothing new. 
 
Monday 4th  September 
Weather fair in the morning but a drizzling rain set in towards the afternoon. Men at various jobs abouts. 
 
Tuesday 5th  September 
Weather cloudy with strong wind from W. Four men went off for logs & came back with 15. The rest at 
various jobs about the Fort. Three Wood Indians arrived with a little meat and went off again immediately. 
 
Wednesday 6th  September 
Weather fair with frost during the night. Our hunters arrived with a good deal of meat and a small quantity of 
grease. Men at various jobs about the Fort. The sawyers resumed their work this noon. 
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Thursday 7th  September 
This has been an eventful day one which we have been employed in trading with our hunters and sending them 
off again to hunt while the sun shines or rather while the grease is thick. The Wood Indian remains here to go 
off with Reid & Donald to the [bottom of page is missing]. 
 
Friday 8th  September 
Weather clear and hard frost, driving frost to the thickness of 1/2 an inch. Men as usual. Geordie a little better. 
 
Saturday 9th  September 
Nothing extraordinary occurred. Weather, but the frost at night, continuing which indicates an early winter. 
Men at various jobs about the place. 
 
Sunday 10th  September 
After the transactions of yesterday were closed, Le Gauché & Johnnie arrived with the news of two moose deer 
killed for wh: all hands started & arrived this morning a short time after our Wood Indian arrived with the 
news of a large Buck, & in the afternoon all hands again started with the Indian for the meat. Immense flocks 
of Cranes & other wild fowl passing to the southward and have been so  
for 3 days back. Leaves beginning to fade. 
 
Monday 11th  September 
Weather beautiful and very warm during the day. Men have not as yet come back. 
 
Tuesday 12th  September 
Weather fair. Two strangers (Wood Indians) arrived but brought very little. All hands except Charleston & 
Brough preparing for a start tomorrow. Donald, Reid, Thom & Peter to the Fishing Lake. Marcette, Savoyard, 
Flett & LaPie with me to Pelly Banks & FL.* 

 * FL is Frances Lake post, which, along with Pelly Banks post, were key posts along the provisioning route to Ft. Selkirk. Francis Lake 
post was also called Glenlyon House. 

[Wednesday 13th Sept. '48 missing from original MS]. 

[Campbell handwriting] 

Thursday 14th September 
Pouring down rain all night. Cleared at Breakfast, after which Mr Stewart and the others mentioned in 
yesterday's transactions took their departure as proposed. May every blessing and success accompany him & 
them also. The day is fine, but oh! how dull. Ten salmon trout* got out of our nets. We put up a stage in hopes 
to catch a few fish. Charleson had the misfortune to cut his foot across at the ankle to the very bone. Madame 
Marcette** was safely delivered of a Daughter yesterday morning. Geordy splayed some of our fresh meat. 
* salmon trout are Chum salmon or Dog salmon. 

** the wife of a Metis, post hunter. 

Friday 15th September 
Geordy went off. The net produced 17 fish, mounted another & put it with a salmon net in the water. Fine 
weather wind southerly. 
 
Saturday 16th September 
Took 24 fish. Geordy came back, instant meeting success. Beautiful weather. 
 
Sunday 17th September 
Took 36 beautiful fish this morning. Large flocks of Cranes passing southward. Delightful weather. Very warm 
& sand flies numerous. 
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Monday 18th September 
Fifty fish taken today. Fine weather with a breeze, southerly wind. Charleson on the sick List. 
 
Tuesday 19th September 
A gale of wind in the early part of the night. A party of the Coast Indians, seven in number with the beloved's 
mother, arrived this morning en Canoe down the Lewis. Their Canoe is of seal skins, about 30 of them. Soon 
after they loosed it up and put the skeleton of a frame in the woods. They met the Wood Indians up the Lewis 
and traded their leather & Furs which they left encache till their return from hence. One of the Indians to be a 
Chilcat* Indian produced a note wrote on [a] board: "the Beaver Steamer 26th Augt 47 by Mr. Charles Dodd" 
[quotations added for clarification]. Upon which I marked its being shown me here this date. An old man 
arrived from below with nothing. 46 fish. Large flocks of Cranes passing south. Fine mild weather & calm. 
* the word Chilcat is written twice; Campbell may have meant to write Chilcat chief, since only leading men were message carriers. 

Wednesday 20th September 
It rained over night. The Chilcat Indian traders went off on their return home; Geordy likewise on a tour de 
chasse. 42 fish. Fine mild weather. 
 
Thursday 21st  September 
Geordy arrived late last night with tongue and nose of a Doe Moose he killed in the rocks behind the Fort. He 
started another female previously. He and Brough went for a part of the meat & brought home 180 lbs. 43 fish 
today. Fine weather. Cranes passing southward in large flocks and some flocks of weavies.* Two of our Dogs 
disappeared in course of yesterday, one of them, (Nelson), arrived home last night but the other, (Corbeau), 
has not yet made his appearance - supposed to have followed the Chilcat Indians, though never know[n] to 
have followed Indians before. 
* unknown birds, but Campbell may have been referring to the family of weaver birds who build elaborately woven nests, e.g. some of 
the finches or sparrows that migrate through the Ft. Selkirk area.  

Friday 22nd September 
Fine weather. Corbeau arrived with wound in his breast & a rib or two broken. 47 fish. Immense flocks of 
Cranes passing South. 
 
Saturday 23rd September 
Thomas & Peter arrived last night from Reid's Fishery. They brought a Moose deer on a Raft, Killed by the 
Wood Indian Hunter. They went for & brought home the rest of Geordy's meat today. Fish 53. Fine weather. 
A strong southerly breeze after sun down - Cranes still passing. 
 
Sunday 24th September 
Four Indians, a wife & two boys, arrived empty handed from the Lewis. Having already traded with the 
"Elletzah". Delightful weather, warm & mild, flies numerous & troublesome. Cranes & Geese also passing S. 
54 fish morning haul. Mr. Stewart & Stewart party arrived today at "Pelly Banks."* 
* Campbell would be estimating the normal time of arrival at this point for up river travel.  

Monday 25th September 
The arrivals of yesterday are off. Traded only 2 Beaver & 1 Mooseskin. Geordy & Peter likewise are off. 
Arrived from below, the Indian with the palsied legs with a deer skin; and, from above, the [Hunter?] the Lame 
Man and a whole host of others of minor note. They brought to the store only a few pieces of meat, about 5 
skins, 54 fish. A little frost over night but beautiful warm weather. Cranes passing in myriads, all immensely 
high. [Next words written on right margin] Six large rafts & canoes from above. 
Tuesday 26th September 
The Indians still here. An old man arrived from Lewis with a few fish only. The Medicine Man's boy from the 
Pelly with some meat not yet received, & Geordy & Peter without meeting any success, having started a large 
female moose.   Charleson still lame.  The exhausted cleaning about the house & burning the rubbage. 30 fish 
nets visited only once this three days. Fine mild weather. 
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Wednesday 27th September 
The Medicine Man & another arrived from above and traded in all about 10 skins in Meat. The Polson lad & 
another arrived from the Lewis with only a few dried fish. Took up the potataoes, in the most fits about 1 1/2 
or 2 Gallons. 46 fish. Frost last night but fine weather & warm. 
 
Thursday 28th September 
Thlinakit [Tlingit Thling]13A alias (Gros Coife) & Father, and some others arrived down the Lewis but brought 
nothing here. A Bear was killed behind the house and has been prepared for a grand fete tonight. 39 fish. Fine 
weather a breeze of Southerly wind. 
 
Friday 29th September 
The feast of last night was brought to a close by some extraordinary feats performed by the Magician or 
Conjurer, who had four shots fired through his or rather the Gun passed through his body & fired when so 
transfixed. He made a roaring noise that might wake the dead or rather the D-l [Devil]. With other items of 
information regarding future events, he said that the this day hence 15 Elletzas would arrive down the Lewis. 
38 fish. Geordy, & the Hunter went off across the Lewis. Weather colder but fine. It blew a Southerly gale at 
night fall. 
 
Saturday 30th September 
Cold & some frost, but still fine weather. Immense flocks of Cranes, Geese, & some swans passing South. 
Took up the rest and last of our Potatoe Crop say 1 1/2 Gallons. Hahnin [Hanan]*, alias Gros Coiffe, arrived 
with only 3 skins in Meat. 29 fish. 
* see End Note 13A 

Sunday 1st October  
Geordy & the Hunter arrived last night without success. All the Indians went off up the Lewis except the 
Hunter who steered his course up the Pelly. Geordy was off today again but killed nothing. Weather cold & 
frosty, 35 fish. 
 
Monday 2nd October 
Hard frost overnight. A party of four Indians & two wives (the "Beloved" being one of them) were crossed this 
morning from the other side of the Lewis. They brought only a few small pieces of Meat. They went off in the 
evening, Beloved & all, bad luck to her she left sorrow behind her. Took up our Crop of Turnips which we 
ought to have done Saturday as the frost of last night has injured  them. Ice on still water all day. 35 fish some 
of them very rusty.* 
* the rusty, chum salmon are near their major spawning grounds a few miles above Ft. Selkirk. 

Tuesday 3rd October 
Geordy went off early down the river. Two Wood Indians arrived on a raft down the Pelly, their small parcels 
not yet examined. Hard frost last night. 46 fish, some of them appear to be fresh arrivals as they are in good 
order. 
 
Wednesday 4th October 
Omitted to mention yesterday that a flagstaff was put on the banks. Three Ayunais arrived from below with 
literally nothing but a cock & a bull's story about the Indians being dying below since they visited this [post] in 
July. Hard frost over night, the Pelly river is apparently rising as it's water is as muddy as in Spring. 20 fish 
today. 
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Thursday 5th October 
Snowing this morning & forenoon, about 3 inches upon the ground. This is what Mr. Stewart wanted & if the 
Boats have arrived at Frances Lake (and I trust they have), he, Mr. Stewart, will not delay much till he is again 
afloat on the Pelly. The Indians went off. 20 fish today. 
 
Friday 6th October 
Geordy & several Wood Indians arrived from above but brought nothing. In the evening Mr Dodd* & another 
arrived with a Letter & some numbers of the Oregon Spectator dated 27th Augt on board the Steamer Beaver. 
The Indian says he left Lynn Canal about the 14th Sept., 22 nights ago. I feel greatful to the amiable Mr Dobb 
for this showing his kindness in being mindful of our remote recluse. Snowing the greater part of the day. Only 
21 fish. 
* Mr. Dodd used by Campbell to identify the Chilcat Indian courier bringing messages from the HBC coastal steamer. 

Saturday 7th October 
Mr. Dodd & companion went off carrying some credentials from hence for several of the Company's officers 
along the coast. Several Wood Indians came & went in the course of the day but brought nothing for the store. 
At Dusk two of the Elletza arrived from below here where they made excellent trade at least judging so from 
the bulk & size weight of their loads. Snowing in the morning with sleet & rain through the day, 37 fish. 
 
Sunday 8th October 
Johnny arrived from Kitza on Friday. They had only 1 dry and 2 green Moose cached, the wolf or wolves 
having ate two other large fat Moose they killed. He went off back today accompanied by Geordy. Fine 
weather, 15 fish. 
 
Monday 9th October 
The Medicine Man with the straight finger arrived with another & brought a little Meat. Men mudding the 
houses. 37 fish, Making 700 hung now. Thaw & mild. 
 
Tuesday 10th October 
From the arrivals of yesterday traded 11 Moose tongues, almost all fresh & only about a skin in  meat each. 
The old man by his account Killed about 29 Moose this season. It is evident the Indians have plenty large Meat 
caches though they are not inclined to bring any meat into the Fort. The Medicine Man has, however, 
consented to give me two Moose now for which purpose I sent two Men & Peter with him and what they 
cannot bring now they are to secure encache till sent for on sleys, first snow - 24 fish. Clear weather with 
strong Southerly Wind. 
 
Wednesday 11th October 
The Interpreter, alias Meysee or Etzatummetah, and four other Indians with a small parcel [of] meat each 
arrived & to my surprise the men sent off yesterday on meeting those Indians at the Camp last night, they 
dissuaded them from going further by stating it to be too far off. In fact they wanted the meat for themselves. 
The scamp of Indians they have large caches all over the country but won't give any of them to the Fort, nor 
allow those few that would do so. Only 11 fish, fine weather. 
 
Thursday 12th October 
Nine more Indians were crossed from "Bell-ah"* five of whom are strangers & among the whole 14. They 
brought only about 20 lbs grease, about the same quantity of Meat. The latter brought news of Gauché having 
some Meat. They went all off downwards. Only 3 fish, Fine weather, men mudding. 
*Bell-ah, also Belleu, Bell-aw.  This name was given to a location below the escarpment across the Pelly River from the post where 
travellers would hail the post for transportation. 
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Friday 13th October 
Two men & Peter went off early down the river with the Murdo* to proceed to Gauché's Camp. Four Indians 
arrived from above, Tabetah among them, brought only about 3 skins Meat. They say that the Wood Hunter 
has cached 2 animals for the Fort. Our Tobacco, with the parsimonious economy we used it, run out till 
yesterday. But now we are entirely without it, and a sad disappointment to the Indians to be without this must 
be delicious Weed. The only thing for which they come to the Fort. To be without almost all trading articles & 
it in particular make my situation anything but a pleasant one, not even an Interpreter14. I and the Company's 
interests owe a deep debt of gratitute to someone for bringing such circumstances.** 
*Murdo, name given to the post's boat 

**see Note 3 on HBC policies affecting Ft. Selkirk 

Saturday 14th October 
The arrivals of yesterday went off, Charleson cutting wood. The nets not visited this two days for want of the 
Boat. Fine weather, Wind Southerly. 
 
Sunday 15th October 
The men arrived below accompanied be Gauché & Family. Brought a moose fresh killed by Marcellais and a 
part of a Bear & some dry Meat by Gauché. He also cached 2 Fresh Moose & one in dry Meat to be taken 
home on sleys. Beautiful weather. 
 
Monday 16th October 
Thirty eight fish yesterday but only 11 today. Fine weather, Wind Southerly. 
 
Tuesday 17th October 
Gauché went off early to hunt, but his dogs having left him, he came empty handed close of day. Gros Coiffe's 
summer companion with his two young Brothers & four others of those in the vicinity came in, the former 
with some meat. They had a dance in the Hall in the evening although we have no Tobacco to cheer their 
spirits. Charleson made 20 lbs. of grease into 100 candles. Only 4 fish today. Fine weather a little frosty with 
Southerly Wind. 
 
Wednesday 18th October 
The Indians all but one went off. Two men went up the blue Mt. behind for birch for sleys but the wood 
though of fine size is all decayed in the heart. They however rose wood for two sleys. Only four fish. Delightful 
weather. 
 
Thursday 19th October 
The channel before the door covered with Ice & remained so all day. Thomas & Gauché tried to turn a sley 
but broke it. Hahnin alias Gros Coiffe & three others arrived. The other Indian went off. Only eight fish today. 
[illegible words written in pencil below this entry] 

Friday 20th October 
Traded only 1 Moose skin from the arrivals of yesterday. The rest of what they brought they would not part 
with for anything we had to sell at our Tariff. The Beloved's husband & another lad arrived with furs & leather 
also, but unable to effect a trade, they took off again. The Gros Coiffe left a deposit of 21 Martens, for which 
he wanted a gun; but as he would not yet get it for that, he says he will make up the number required by & bye. 
Only 5 fish today & hard work, each [of] the Nets with ice - which has kept its iron hold on the channel before 
the door. No appearance of ice in the Lewis but the Pelly is drifting full channel all day. This will increase the 
misery of Mr. Stewart & people. I wish to God they were safe here from the dreadful cold they must suffer, if, 
as I hope, they are by the way encanoe. Weather clear, calm, & frosty. Two sleys & a pair of snowshoes were 
turned. 
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Saturday 21st October 
All the men went up the hill for birch. Only 1 fish today. The weather milder, about 1/2 inch of snow on the 
ground this morning. Not a particle of ice in the Lewis but the Pelly drifing full channel. I wish Mr. Stewart & 
people were here. 
 
Sunday 22nd October 
Cold & clear. Ice drifting full channel from the Pelly but none from the Lewis. I have given up hope of seeing 
Mr. Stewart arrive encanoe. 
 
Monday 23rd October 
Weather clear and less ice drifting. The nets produced only 3 fish. Two sleys were turned today. 
 
Tuesday 24th October 
Peter went off early to pay a visit to Reid at Tatlamain [Tatl' áMän Lake] Gauché went off to hunt. Various 
duties going forward, only two fish taken. The weather since last evening has turned very mild. Much less ice 
drifting on the Pelly. 
 
Wednesday 25th October 
Two men off for birch. Two fish only. Fine mild weather. The channel before the door is partly open again. 
This is the day I told Mr. Stewart I would be expecting him and hence forward till he would arrive. 
 
Thursday 26th October 
Another day has closed without Mr. Stewart & party arriving, though anxiously looked for. 7 Fish today, some 
of them are fresh arrivals. Thomas and Gauché turning sleys & snowshoes. The weather fine & mild. 
 
Friday 27th October 
A log that has been lying on the pit partly sawyed since the 9th September, the men found time to finish today. 
The nets, though five in number, produced only 2 fish. The same kind of weather. Mr. Stewart not yet arrived; 
they must have much misery If as I suppose encanoe. God grant them a safe & speedy arrival. 
 
Saturday 28th October 
No arrivals. Fine weather. Tom turned a sley, only 2 fish. 
 
Sunday 29th October 
Not a word yet of Mr. Stewart. Had a roast shoulder & a cup of hyson* for dinner, what I would give to share 
it with him. Weather colder & I have no hopes of seeing them now arrive encanoe. 
* a Chinese green tea. 

Monday 30th October 
Took up the nets, only three fish taken. The weather colder this morning & the ice thicker. In a channel up the 
Lewis now almost dry, [I] saw 37 salmon trout dead in the space of about 30 or 40 fathoms in length. In the 
evening Tacahetah and another arrived down the Lewis. 
 
Tuesday 31st October 
The arrivals of yesterday went off, as did Gauché & Family up the opposite side of the Pelly. Peter arrived 
from Reids fishery at Tatlamain and, if I understand the Tally sent by him, he has 5300 fish secured, excellent 
from so few nets. There are a great number of Indians at that Lake. One of them gave a note to Peter wrote by 
Mr. Stewart the fourth morning from hence above the MM Forks.* Then all were well. Would To Heaven they 
were all here and well now. 
* MM Forks - the confluence of the Pelly and McMillan rivers. 

 



1848 

 
 18 

Wednesday 1st November  
We set two nets yesterday down the Lewis at Beloved's Camp. The men went with more nets today but found 
no fish & took them all up. Thomas bored another sley. The weather fine but colder and more ice coming 
down the Pelly. 
 
Thursday 2nd November 
Men employed between cutting wood & boring sleys. Your servant & Peter off all day in the woods. This is the 
fiftieth day since Mr Stewart left us. But no word of him yet. 
 
Friday 3rd November 
Snowing in the morning & continued so all day leaving about 6 inches upon the ground. The same duties going 
on. 
 
Saturday 4th November 
The same duties going on. We had to launch The Murdo (which had been secured in winter quarters yesterday) 
to cross Geordy who arrived from Kitzah's Camp, where between them two more animals have been cached. 
Ice began to drift from the Lewis yesterday. 
 
Sunday 5th November 
Gauché & Marcellais arrived in the afternoon with a tongue & a little meat, having killed a Moose this morning 
a little beyond Belleu, a little after two wood Indians were crossed. Fine cold weather. 
 
Monday 6th November 
Gauché & the Wood Indian went off, as did Charleson to take care of the meat & Tom is to follow tomorrow 
with a sley. Weather cloudy & mild. 
 
Tuesday 7th November 
Tom went for & brought home the meat, 345 lbs. Thlan tah, Straight Finger & 8 others arrived. Mild & 
snowing. 
 
Wednesday 8th November 
Six of the arrivals of yesterday went off. Weather overcast & snowing. Ice drifting down both Rivers. Not a 
word of Mr. Stewart. 
 
Thursday 9th November 
Employed between lacing snowshoes, arranging sleys & getting wood. 
 
 
Friday 10th November 
The same duties going on & no change in the weather. 
 
Saturday 11th November 
The same as above. 
 
Sunday 12th November 
No arrival. Snowed in the afternoon. 
 
Monday 13th November 
Charleson & Peter with a sley & sundries for the Fishery [and] started for it this morning; as did Thomas & 
Geordy with a sley load of fish up the Pelly in hopes of meeting Mr. Stewart. Weather cold. 
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Tuesday 14th November 
Nothing remarkable, cold weather. 
 
Wednesday 15th November 
Same as above. 
 
Thursday 16th November 
Southerly wind & a strong thaw last night & continued mild throughout this day. Not a word yet of Mr. 
Stewart. 
Friday 17th November 
Mild & snowed a little. 
 
Saturday 18th November 
Nothing particular. 
 
Sunday 19th November 
Johnny & Marcellais arrived from the Hunters Camp. Killed a wolf today. 
 
Monday 20th November 
Nothing remarkable except the none arrival of Mr. Stewart. 
 
Tuesday 21st November 
Johnny & Marcellais went off. Three Deer* have been cached for us since last account. Fine weather. Caught a 
cross Fox. 
*caribou, often also called reindeer in HBC accounts.  [White tail deer and mule deer are now in the Fort Selkirk area.  HBC men never 
reported seeing those kind of deer nor do early Indian accounts mention them.  To avoid confusion for today's reader, caribou have 
been noted wherever the word deer is mentioned.] 

Wednesday 22nd November 
No arrivals from any where, fine Weather. 
 
Thursday 23rd November 
Donald arrived his second day from the Fishery and rendered 81 small fish. The track yet very bad for a load. 
Fine weather. 
 
Friday 24th November 
Thomas & Geordie arrived this evening. But not a word of Mr. Stewart. Thomas made a cache of the Fish for 
them above the Forks of McMillans River - and came back by Reid fishery (by the way a much shorter road) 
and brought here a load of 144 fish. Lost a fox today and one yesterday out of my trap. Weather colder. 
 
Saturday 25th November 
Snowing a little all day. Murray & Sandison arranging their agrets* & Brough as usual cutting wood. 
*baggage 

Sunday 26th November 
Snowing the greater part of the day. The ice stopped in the Lewis and the water rising fast, the river being 
increasingly barred below. 
 
Monday 27th November 
Donald & Tom went off to the fishery with their sleys & Geordy & Peter in another direction to set snares. 
Both the rivers fast & covered with ice bergs. 
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Tuesday 28th November 
Fine weather. 
 
Wednesday 29th November 
We had the gratifying pleasure to see Mr. Stewart arrive this evening accompanyed by Marcette, Flett & 
Savoyard with the sley also coming on behind. He left Pelly Banks with his party 1st Novbr. with 10 days 
provisions only. The miseries he had by the way are beyond description and such as northwesters can form an 
idea of. But his determined perserverance made everything bend before it and at length has, thank God, arrived 
safe with Tobacco and such articles as are absolutely required for winter. Snowed all night & part of the 
forenoon. 
 
Thursday 30th November 
Flett & Savoyard arrived. Weather mild & overcast. St. Andrew's day, Though far from our native land and 
countrymen, let us pass it in social glee. So fill your glasses my lads & pass the bottle round.* 
* So fill .... bottle round: only a figure of speech since alcohol was strictly forbidden at Ft. Selkirk, and in the MacKenzie District, by the 
HBC at the time.  [Stewart's handwriting] 

Friday 1st December 
Snowing hard all day. Men reposing themselves after their voyage. Geordie goes off tomorrow [to] the hunters 
camp with some tobacco for them. No arrivals. 
 
Saturday 2nd December 
Snowing most of the day. Donald & Thom arrived with 350 fish from Reid's Fishery; the rest of the men 
getting wood for themselves. No news or arrivals from any direction. Geordie went off as was intended.  
 
Sunday 3rd December 
Cloudy but no snow. Nothing new. 
 
Monday 4th December 
Men preparing to start tomorrow for Fish. Savoyard goes to McM's Forks for the pemican left encache there 
by me in the Fall. Snow most of the day. 
 
Tuesday 5th December 
Cloudy & rather colder than usual. Men went off as proposed. Thom & Flett squared a sleigh & two pairs of 
snowshoes & brought them [back]. 
Wednesday 6th December 
Fine weather. Thom arranging wood for a sleigh. Flett cutting firewood. 
 
Thursday 7th December 
Nothing new. Weather as yesterday. 
 
Friday 8th December 
Snowing at intervals. No arrivals. 
 
Saturday 9th December 
Early this morning, eight Wood Indians arrived with some fresh meat wh: we traded. They say that Kitsah will 
be here in a few days. Marcette & Donald also arrived from the Fishery with 339 fish, report that Reid is taking 
very few but enough to eat & some for the Cache still. 
 
Sunday 10th December 
Fine Weather. The Indians went off and in the evening Geordie and LeGauché arrived with a sleigh load of 
fresh meat. 
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Monday 11th December 
Nothing new. Weighed the Gauché's sleigh load (280 lbs.) all together with the W [Wood] Indians brought. 
Thom barred a sleigh and the rest preparing to go for meat after tomorrow. 
 
Tuesday 12th December 
Men getting wood for themselves etc. Weather clear & rather cold. 
 
Wednesday 13th December 
Savoyard & Brough arrived today with fish & Pemican from McM's Forks. Marcette & Don went off with 
LeGauché, Geordie & Marcellais for meat. Later in the evening an old W. Indian & young man arrived. They 
have brought little or nothing. Thom Peter went off to square Sleigh & Snowshoe wood. 
 
Thursday 14th December 
Indians went off after trading the little meat & everything. Men resting. Weather clear & very cold. 
 
Friday 15th December 
Very cold. Savoyard & Brough preparing to start for meat tomorrow. 
 
Saturday 16th December 
Men went off as proposed. Thom & Peter arrived after having squared 8 sleighs, some snowshoes &Axe 
handles. 
 
Sunday 17th December 
Weather not so cold. Donald & Marcette arrived with 490 lbs. fresh meat. 
 
Monday 18th December 
Thom barring a sleigh. Flett mending harnesses & the other two resting themselves. Beautiful Weather for the 
season. 
 
Tuesday 19th December 
Thom & I brought home 6 sleighs & 5 Axe handles, the rest getting wood. Snow towards evening [rest of entry 
missing - page cut out here]. 
 
Wednesday 20th December 
Marcette on the sick list. Tom* turning sleighs & Donald preparing to start for meat tomorrow with Mr 
Campbell. Flett &Peter went to Reid's Fishery. 
*Tom, also Thom and Thomas 

Thursday 21st December 
Mr. Campbell and Donald started as was proposed. Thom turned a sleigh and Marcette, though better, is too 
weak for work. Weather mild, a little snow fell during the night. 
 
Friday 22nd December 
Nothing new. Weather fair. Thom at various jobs. 
 
Saturday 23rd December 
Early this morning Savoyard & Brough arrived with 270 lbs. [of] meat, report having spoken Mr. Campbell 
night before last, all well. Marcette & Thom turned a very good sleigh each. Weather fine. 
 
Sunday 24th December 
Nothing new from any direction. Weather colder but fine. 
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Monday 25th December 
Brough went off this morning for meat. Savoyard brought home 20 pair of snowshoes, 14 Axe handles and 1 
sleigh. Marcette making Sêrres,* Thom's cutting wood & This is the way we have spent Christmas day, rather 
scandalous I doubt. No arrivals. Weather mild with much appearance of snow. 
* Sêrres are clamps. 

Tuesday 26th December 
Nothing of Mr. Campbell or Flett as yet, they must have some misery, I am afraid. Savoyard cutting & hauling 
wood. Marcette & Thom turned a good sleigh each. Weather threatening snow, not very mild [remainder of 
entry missing - section of page cut out here].  
 
Wednesday 27th December 
People from all quarters arrived today. Flett was the first with Reid ahead from the Fishery; then came Mr. 
Campbell, Donald and Kitsah with meat, & last but not least, came Brough with meat also. "Total receipts are 
as follows 900 lbs. fresh meat, 13 fine Trout, 221 W. Fish."*  The men at the Fort employed cutting wood. 
* whitefish. 

Thursday 28th December 
Marcette & Savoyard went off for meat & Thom was doing various jobs about the Fort. The rest refreshing 
themselves after their voyages. 
 
Friday 29th December 
The men arrived with 310 lbs meat. Donald, Brough, Thom, & Flett cutting wood. Rather colder than usual. 
 
Saturday 30th December 
Men cutting wood. Weather exceedingly cold. 
 
Sunday 31st December 
Very cold in the morning. Nothing new as nobody arrived from any direction. 
Here ends the year 1848. A year replete with incidents (to us at least) which ought to call our wandering sinful 
thoughts to bless our Creator for his manifold mercies bestowed upon us miserable & wretched sinners; for 
having preserved us from so many dangers both by land & water, for having granted us abundance where 
famine was expected, for having prospered our enterprises in every way, finally, for having spared us yet a little 
while, to repent of our manifold transgressions & turn unto him in humility to enable us to repent & be saved.  
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